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Friday, September 16, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:15 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Today is the twentieth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This morning we will continue the examination of the panel on customer support operations, CIS contracts operating and maintenance budgets.


Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. CASS:  I have at least one preliminary matter, Madam Chair.  Yesterday, I was asked to report on the status of the production of the Enbridge Gas Distribution corporate budget for 2005.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  I had indicated to the Board that it was my understanding that the corporate budget had not yet been produced because of consideration that was being given to securities law implications.


I can now update the Board on that matter and provide what the company would propose as a way of going forward.


Again, I have to preface my comments by saying that I am not a securities law expert.  My understanding of where the issue is at, is that if the document were to be filed on a confidential basis, and if it were to be filed on the basis that those who receive it confidentially would not trade in Enbridge securities, then it can be filed and the securities law issues would be dealt with.


So if that is acceptable, that we proceed in that manner, we have copies of the corporate budget here this morning and that can be done.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Submissions from other parties?


MR. WARREN:  That's certainly acceptable to me.  Of course, I have to contemplate the massive changes in my ‑‑ which, of course, will have significant impact on the stock market, but that's fine with me and I will be so bold as to say it is fine with Mr. Thompson, too, and I will pay the price if it isn't, so that's fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  I guess Enbridge will pay that price, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am not so sanguine as my friend, Mr. Warren, not because my portfolio is larger or more varied than his.  I guess my concern is this.  The company has not brought this Board any evidence that there is, in fact, a securities law issue.  We have only Mr. Cass's statement, and he is not an expert in the area, that there is a problem.


We have no evidence as to what the problem specifically is.  It appears to be something to do with publicly disclosing prospective financial information.  This whole case is about publicly disclosing prospective financial information.  We already have the company's detailed estimates, line by line, for 2005, not just their budget; what they really think is going to happen.


We also have what they think they want to do in 2006, in detail, way more detail than a budget will have.


So intuitively it makes no sense that a budget would have a securities law problem.  However, having said that

-- and the only reason I say that is, because I think the Board has to, or should, show some resistance to this tendency on the part of the Board ‑‑ or on the part of the applicant to treat everything as confidential.  


But that having been said, I think that in order to get on with it, given that we're on day 20, in this case, if we have to take it the way Mr. Cass has proposed it, it's not going to actually affect us practically to do that.  But I think that the tendency is a bad one.  Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Dingwall.


MR. DINGWALL:  Very briefly.  Noting that we're on day 20 of this hearing, which coincides with day 1 of Survivor Guatemala, ironically, perhaps, I just wonder if I can offer the suggestion that the Board is also in a position to seek its own counsel as to whether or not there is an issue with respect to securities law and whether or not the information submitted remains confidential.


The guise of confidentiality has been used in past years to shelter inter-corporate arrangements to perform all sorts of unnatural functions.  I think that we may be getting to the point where the treatment of confidentiality becomes something that the Board begins to look at from its own perspective and to determine, in respect of the documents that are tendered on a confidential basis, as to whether or not they remain confidential and truly are confidential.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Anyone else?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, I only have a general comment that I have a problem with a stipulation that information that I or any of us receive as an advocate should place restrictions on us in our private lives.


All of us have a code of conduct that we have to fall under the Law Society of Upper Canada.  We are answerable to the Law Society.  We're answerable to the Securities Commission.  I don't think that under the guise of receiving information that we need, to be effective advocates in this case, that we should have further restrictions placed on us.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I may, I would just like to make one comment in response to what Mr. Shepherd said.


The thrust of Mr. Shepherd's comments seem to be that this was all some sort of a charade where somebody is trying to hide behind securities laws and the Board should not let this kind of thing happen in the future.


Well, again, I'm not a securities law expert and neither I nor anybody in my firm, that I am aware of, has been involved in giving Enbridge Inc. securities law advice on this matter.


However, for my own purposes, in order to come and be able to talk to the Board in at least a half educated manner about securities law matters, I did speak to a securities law specialist in our firm.  So this was just my personal effort.  This had nothing to do with advice being given to Enbridge Inc.  She spent a considerable amount of time with me taking me through all the implications and made it very clear to me there is definitely a securities law issue.  


So I take offence, rather, at Mr. Shepherd's suggestion that this is just some sort of a charade that is being thrown up by the company.


MS. NOWINA:  The Board will take all of that under advisement and we will discuss it at break and perhaps give you a decision at that point, after the break.


Mr. Cass, you said you had another matter?


MR. CASS:  Well, the other preliminary matter has to do with another contentious issue that was discussed yesterday.  The Board will recall that efforts were to be made to determine whether CWLP's lawyer could be available today to argue about information that Mr. Thompson had requested.


I spoke to CWLP's lawyer, Ms. Sims, yesterday at the conclusion of the proceedings.  At that time, she indicated to me that it was her instructions from her client to be here if she could, but that she had a matter proceeding this morning and she was not sure how long it was going to take or whether she could commit to being here.


She then sent out an e‑mail - I can't pretend that I was even still awake at this time - but to Mr. Hoey, which he circulated to others late last night, indicating that she can't be here today.  


I have a proposal to suggest to the Board as to how we might proceed, but I don't know whether others want to make their comments or have me go ahead and provide my proposal.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't you provide your proposal.  That would be most effective, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Well, my proposal or the company's proposal ‑‑ I shouldn't put this as a matter of something personally I'm putting forward, but the company's proposal would be that we argue this at the next available opportunity, which I understand to be Thursday morning.


We haven't been able to confirm that with Ms. Sims, but I put a message in to her this morning, knowing that she was occupied on some other matter, to find out whether she would be available Thursday morning.


Being aware that parties, if further information is provided, would want some time to look at that before resuming with Mr. McGill and others of this panel, besides Mr. Louth, that what we're contemplating ‑‑ and we haven't established for certain that we could do this, but we are contemplating whether we could move the NGV panel to Thursday afternoon, and so the issue could be argued Thursday morning.  The NGV panel could be Thursday afternoon, and then this panel, without Mr. Louth, could resume Friday morning.


Anyway, that is the proposal that I am suggesting.  Mr. Hoey is just showing me something.  Oh, it's a BlackBerry message from Ms. Sims indicating that Thursday would be acceptable.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

Submissions from other parties?
     MR. WARREN:  At the risk of, again, publicly diverging with my friend, Mr. Shepherd, my preference is that we not proceed to argue this issue without Ms. Sims.  I'm sorry, there are too many negatives in here.  I think Ms. Sims should be here.
     I take it, it's a rather -- it's I guess a very old litigator's bias that I don't want any issue of fairness hanging over my shoulder.  I think it is fairer that Ms. Sims be here.
     The only thing I would add to what Mr. Cass has said is if, through you, Madam Chair, we could get a message to Ms. Sims that if she could provide us -- however, a brief synopsis of what her position is in advance of Thursday so that we have -- so that all of the parties come into the room able to provide you with a succinct but thorough argument on this issue so we can be finally done with it.
     So I accept Mr. Cass's proposal as a reasonable one.  I think it is fair to Ms. Sims but with that qualification or addition, that Ms. Sims be asked to provide us with a brief summary of what her position is.  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Warren is correct.  We are once more diverging.
     I have two problems with this.  The first problem is, CWLP is a piece of paper.  ECSI is a piece of paper.  Ms. Sims doesn't have anybody to take instructions from except EI.  Which is exactly where EGD gets their instructions.
     This whole thing about everybody has to have their own separate counsel, while I understand the technical reasons why that is required, is actually not part of the real world.  These are pieces of paper.
     If Accenture -- if Mr. Howe wanted to come in and resist information, for example, on the Project Moose agreement which we were talking about earlier, that's a different story.  Accenture is a real entity.  Real people.  ECSI is not real people.  There are no real people there.  It's Ms. Sims.  There are no people at CWLP.
     And so, to say this Board's process should be held up because these pieces of paper have to be represented is fundamentally -- a person on the street looking at this would say:  We've all got rocks for brains here.
     However, the second part of this problem with delaying this is that the company and CWLP and ECSI have known for some time -- like not a couple of days -- they have known for weeks that this information was required.
     Mr. Thompson, on day 6, so long ago of this proceeding, said he was going to ask for it.  He wanted it.  The company has had ample opportunity and CWLP and ECSI have had ample opportunity to come before the Board and say, no, we can't provide it.  It's confidential.  It's irrelevant.  It's whatever their argument is.  And they haven't done so.  

In our mind, this is nothing short of disrespect for this Board’s process, and this Board should be saying to the company and these other parties who are really just the company in a different guise:  That's not acceptable.  This process is already late.  

The company, when the decision comes down at the end of February, is going to say, Oh, by the way, can we please have our rate change as of January 1st?
     They’re going to say, The process takes so long, those intervenors, they take -- they make things take so long.  But the fact is, if they don't cooperate, if the company doesn't work with the Board and respect the Board's process, then of course it's going to take longer, of course it's going to be more difficult.
     So our view is, this Board should proceed and decide on that issue today.  If Ms. Sims thinks that she has a legal argument that she can set it aside, let her come with a motion.  She should have done that already, but she didn't.  So let her come next week with a motion overturning your decision.
     Now, having said all that, I accept the fact that likely the easiest approach for the Board is to go with Mr. Cass's suggestion and then I have a problem specifically with the details of that because as I'm supposed to lead on the financial information, if this material is provided, he's proposing I do my cross-examination on NGV that afternoon and then the next morning do a lengthy cross on the financials.  That is not possible.  That's not realistic.
     So therefore, I would ask that the customer care, if you proceed with that, that customer care be put off to the following week and they infill with other panels in the meantime.  

Those are our submissions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

Mr. Dingwall.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Very briefly.  I don't know if this has been canvassed but I understood Mr. Cass to be communicating to us that Ms. Sims' unavailability was based around the morning.  We have nothing on the schedule for the afternoon.  Some of us may have got the cars loaded up to head up north for might well be one of the last nice weekends, but if it is conceivable we can resolve this this afternoon and get around the scheduling conflicts, maybe that might be another opportunity to consider.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, do you know if Ms. Sims is available this afternoon?
     MR. CASS:  Yes, I'm sorry, Madam Chair.  I did not make myself clear and I apologize.
     Ms. Sims, from the first I spoke to her yesterday afternoon, was definitely unavailable this morning.  The question was how long her matter this morning would occupy her and whether she could conceivably be available this afternoon.
     That was what she communicated in her e-mail to Mr. Hoey late yesterday, which is that her morning matter was going to be of such – well, I'm sorry.  Her e-mail to Mr. Hoey didn't get into that detail but she communicated to him late yesterday that she could not be available today.
     MS. NOWINA:  Today at all?
     MR. CASS:  Correct.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.
     MR. CASS:  The issue was how long would her matter be in the morning and that was why it took until much later in the day to sort that out.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. DeVellis, did you have any comments?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I have no submissions except to say I agree substantially with Mr. Shepherd's position.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  

Mr. Cass any response to the other comments?
     MR. CASS:  Yes, if I may respond to what Mr. Shepherd said, Madam Chair.
     His first point, as I understood it, seemed to be that Enbridge Gas Distribution, in some way, should be treated as the same as CWLP for the purposes of this issue.
     First of all, I point out the obvious to the Board, which is that CWLP has another important stakeholder, which is Terasen, that is not Enbridge.  And CWLP is not the same as Enbridge.
     The other point Mr. Shepherd seemed to make was that somehow Enbridge Gas Distribution takes instructions for this case from Enbridge Inc. which essentially means me and the other counsel here on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Madam Chair, I do not take instructions from Enbridge Inc. and certainly not from CWLP in respect of this proceeding.
     I generally know a little more about the position of CWLP than others in this room.  I take my instructions from Enbridge Gas Distribution, which is not CWLP.
     Second, Mr. Shepherd made a submission that the company should have been aware of this issue.  And in that connection, I wonder if I could ask the Board to turn up the response to CCC interrogatory number 192.  I referred to this yesterday, but rather than take up time yesterday I didn't actually ask the Board to turn to it.  It's Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192.
     MS. NOWINA:  Is this the confidential one?
     MR. McGILL:  It's not part of the confidential filing.
     MR. CASS:  I would ask the Board to turn to page 9 of 10.  And on page 9, numbered paragraph 10.
     This is the information that was available to parties as of Motions Day, which I believe from memory was June 30th.  I won't get back into the debate about what happened on Motions Day.  I think we can leave that for the argument in full on the issue that's now been raised.
     But as of Motions Day, parties were made aware of CWLP's position.  So under the heading of ECSI, CWLP, ABSU -- that being Accenture financial information -- the following response was given.
     Intervenors have requested detailed historic financial data as well as prospective financial data to 2017 for the three entities that I just named.  Enbridge Gas Distribution requested CWLP to consider the provision of the requested information.  CWLP has agreed to provide its 2006 forecast earnings and assets for 2006 as part of a detailed presentation of the derivation of the ECSI segmented financial statements for 2006, subject to some confidentiality wording that follows.


And then there is another paragraph indicating that customer care costs for other years are not at issue and thereby explaining, I think, the rationale for the response that was provided.


Parties have been aware of this since Motions Day, and, in my submission, Mr. Shepherd's comments that the company, in some way, has been disrespectful of the process are completely out of line and I might say the company takes great offence at those comments.  The company has made every effort to keep this process moving smoothly, to ensure that there are no delays and to show respect for the Board's process.


CWLP's position has been on the record in this interrogatory response for a considerable period of time.  Again, I won't get into the Motions Day discussion.  I will leave that for when the issue is actually argued.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Just a moment, please.


[The Board confers]


MS. CHAPLIN:  I have a procedural question for you, Mr. Cass, following on from Mr. Shepherd's comment regarding actually the logistics if we were to hear this matter on Thursday.  Would there be some -- and you suggested that the NGV panel would go ahead after that on Thursday and that the customer care would resume on Friday.


Would there be an alternative set of panels or panel that could go forward on the Friday?


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, Ms. Chaplin, I'm just consulting with Mr. Hoey.  What Mr. Hoey has suggested is that on the Friday, perhaps the third party access to bill issue could be moved ahead to be dealt with on the Friday.


MR. DINGWALL:  That would be completely unacceptable.  The third party access question is contingent upon and closely related to the completion of the CIS and customer care panels.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And am I correct that there really is no alternative, because all that remains is DSM and the intervenor panels?


MR. CASS:  I was going to say that, Ms. Chaplin.  We don't have a lot left to work with.  I did speak to Mr. Hoey this morning about, as a last resort, thinking about moving DSM up.  I don't know how the Board would feel about that.  That could be quite disruptive to the schedule, but there is not a lot left to work with.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  We will consider this at break, as well.  Let's go ahead with this witness panel.


Where we are on this witness panel is Mr. DeVellis.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 16; Resumed

DOUG LOUTH; Previously Sworn


TANYIA FERGUSON; Previously Sworn


STEPHEN McGILL; Previously Sworn


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Mr. Louth, can I get you to turn to page 10 of your 2004 report?  That's at Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 5, appendix 1. 


MS. FERGUSON:  Sorry, that was page 10 of the report?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 10, yes.


MR. LOUTH:  Okay, I have that document.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You indicate under paragraph 7.2 cost per customer by size of utility.  What you did was break up the sample.  Now, the sample we're talking about there is the cluster utilities, the 11.


MR. LOUTH:  Those are the cluster utilities, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So you broke up the 11 into those that have greater than 500,000 customers and those who have less than 500,000 customers?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you tell me why the 500,000 number was chosen?


MR. LOUTH:  It was chosen by Direct Energy as being a reasonable split in the database.  There was no particular reason for picking 500,000.  They could have picked 600,000 or another number, but 500,000 was chosen as designating a larger utility.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, if they had chosen a different number, would that have affected the results there at figure 3?  I'm jumping ahead.


MR. LOUTH:  Potentially so.  Without consulting the detailed database, I don't know whether there were any other utilities, for instance, at 520,000.


From memory, I don't believe so.  We did look at the split in the database and, as I say, this was not chosen at random.  This was chosen because it was a logical split -- way to split the database.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Can you tell us how many of the utilities fall in each camp, greater than 500,000 and less than 500,000?


MR. LOUTH:  I don't have that information to hand right now, unless it is in another submission somewhere, but I ‑‑ no, I don't think ‑‑ I can certainly get that information for you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You can, okay.  Also, the number of ‑‑ can you give us a break down of the number of customers for each utility?


MR. LOUTH:  I can do that.  It will take some time to do that, but I certainly can do that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  What do you mean ‑‑


MR. LOUTH:  Without identifying the utilities, of course.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MR. LOUTH:  It would be A, B, C, D.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You can give us a break down of the 11 by number of customers and cost per customer?


MR. LOUTH:  I can do that but, as I say, it will take some time to do that.  I have to go to my computer, look at the database and give you that break down.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  I hesitate to do that, but perhaps I will ask that ‑‑ an undertaking?


MS. NOWINA:  You want an undertaking, Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J20.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J20.1:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE 11 UTILITIES BY NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS AND COST PER CUSTOMER

MR. DeVELLIS:  You say, lower down on the page there, under figure 3:   

"July was unable to establish or impute the reason for the small difference in mean cost either from the completed benchmark questionnaires or from plotting of individual utility costs."


What you're referring to there is the difference between the large utilities and the smaller utilities?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Being $53.10 for the large and 55.47 for the smaller?


MR. LOUTH:  That's right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, when you say that in that paragraph, do you mean that you would have expected a larger difference between the two groups?


MR. LOUTH:  No, not at all.  I mean, what we're saying here is that we were ‑‑ there was no obvious reason for that difference, based on the data that was submitted in return to our questionnaire.


There was no clear reason.  There weren't, for instance, economies of scale that we could identify.  So we could not impute any reason for that difference.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would you expect that larger utilities have a smaller or lower cost per customer?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  Instinctively I would do so, because of economies of scale, but, again, that is not a scientific answer.  That's purely based on what I believe should happen.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  Okay.  Your data doesn't necessarily show that.  It shows a difference, but --


MR. LOUTH:  Well, the data does show it, but as it says in the report, we don't know why that difference is there.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Did you do any kind of ‑‑ any regression analysis to isolate the impact of size on the cost per customer?


MR. LOUTH:  No.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Basically, what your methodology is was to simply divide the sample into two groups.


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But you didn't do an analysis to show ‑‑ to isolate -- I'm just repeating the question now, but to isolate the impact of size?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  At the top of page 10 you have -- in figure 2, you have all respondents, number of 14 respondents, and you have a mean cost per customer, 54.45.


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And the standard deviation for that sample is $15.86?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Approximately 30 percent of the mean?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  What would be ‑‑ now, the box in the lower right quadrant of that figure is empty.  Do you know what the standard deviation would be for the remaining sample?


MR. LOUTH:  Again, I can find that information.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If you could provide that to us.

MR. LOUTH:  I can make an undertaking.
MR. DeVELLIS:  Make an undertaking.
MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J20.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J20.2:  TO PROVIDE THE STANDARD DEVIATION FOR THE REMAINING SAMPLE

MR. DeVELLIS:  What would you consider an acceptable standard of standard deviation for a uniform sample?
     MR. LOUTH:  Well, of course, the standard deviation is usually smaller depending on the size of the sample.
     We have here a very small sample and, frankly, a standard deviation that surprised us when we actually processed the numbers.  We were not expecting a standard deviation of this size.  But it occurred.  It was part of the analysis of the database.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  You say you weren't expecting -- you were expecting it to be larger or smaller?
     MR. LOUTH:  I would have expected it to be smaller.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  To be smaller, okay.
     So that indicates to you, or does it indicate to you, a large variation in the sample?
     MR. LOUTH:  What I think it indicates is that there is a large variation in the sample, and that variation is actually surprisingly large, as far as we are concerned as a consulting firm.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, do you know what -- what is the biggest -- is EGD the biggest, in terms of number of customers, in the sample?
     MR. LOUTH:  The biggest?
     MR. DeVELLIS: Biggest utility, sorry.
     MR. LOUTH:  The largest number of customers was approximately 1.9 million, a little under 1.9 million.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  So was that EGD or another utility.
     MR. LOUTH:  That was another company.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Where would EGD fall in the sample?
     MR. LOUTH:  At the top end, most certainly.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  The second highest.
     MR. LOUTH:  In the top two or three.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Could you confirm that for us as well.
     MR. LOUTH:  Certainly.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.
     MR. BATTISTA:  That would be Undertaking J 20.3.
     UNDERTAKING NO. J20.3:  TO PROVIDE WHERE EGD RANKED,

IN TERMS OF NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS, WITHIN THE SAMPLE
MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, you said yesterday that the difference between EGD and the cluster utility for the 2006 update was 7.9 percent, in other words EGD was 7.9 percent above the benchmark sample.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, indeed.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I think you said in the transcript 7.9 percent over the benchmark is in the top end of the range of reasonableness.
     MR. LOUTH:  It is the top end of the range, yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  And in your report you also say generally costed at 10 percent of the benchmark mean can be considered reasonable.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, first of all, how did you arrive at the 10 percent figure?
     MR. LOUTH:  Purely and simply based on experience.  We were requested by Direct Energy to come up with that sort of range of variance and we looked back at other work we'd done, not only in the regulatory field but in other consulting assignments, in terms of reasonableness.  And in particular, assignments where we were helping a client to select services.  And we found a consistency around a plus or minus 10 percent number.  

Now, obviously there is less dispute if the client is 10 percent below the mean.  That's generally reckoned to be fair market value.  But plus or minus 10 percent we considered to be a reasonable range.  But there is no scientific basis for that.  It's purely a consulting opinion.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, does the 10 percent figure assume that the sample is relatively uniform?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, it does.  It also assumes that, in terms of an organization that is at the top end of that range, there are mitigating circumstances which justify an above-benchmark type of answer to the cost-per-customer question.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, no.  I'm just asking whether the range of reasonableness depends on there being an evenly distributed sample.
     MR. LOUTH:  Not necessarily.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well --
     MR. LOUTH:  Obviously, the bigger the sample the more accurate the answer, but not necessarily.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, would you still consider 10 percent to be the range of reasonableness when you had a standard deviation as 30 percent of the mean?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  You still consider that --
     MR. LOUTH:  I would consider that.     

MR. DeVELLIS: -- a range of reasonableness?
     MR. LOUTH:  Based on experience, yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  So not to belabour this point, but when you have a sample with some respondents who are very low and some that are high, you have an average, and you're saying as long as you're close to that average then that is reasonable?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  And just as we would say at that point that those members of the sample that were close to the end of the standard deviation range were unreasonable.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  If you have one provider with costs of $10 and one with costs of $100 and the average would be $55, so if EGD's costs were $60, you would say they were reasonable because they were within 10 percent of the average?
     MR. LOUTH:  I think, quite frankly, with a population of two in that sort of calculation, we would not make any comment to EGD whatsoever, because clearly the sample is too small.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, you can have more in each camp if you like.  You can have 10 at -- 110 at 10.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  But if the sample was sufficiently large that we could reach a conclusion, we would, at that point say:  10 percent either way represented a reasonable range of market value, yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  So even though EGD, which you say is the second largest utility, if their costs are $50 higher than the lowest respondent in the sample, you would still say they were reasonable?
     MR. LOUTH:  I'm sorry, you're losing me on the mathematics.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Going back to your early example based on my earlier example 10 and 100, the average is 55, if EGD’s cost are 60, they're $50 higher than the lowest respondent, you still say they're reasonable because they're within 10 percent of the average.
     MR. LOUTH:  We're dealing here in a hypothetical situation, are we not?
     MR. DeVELLIS: Yes, I understand that.
     MR. LOUTH:  To give a consulting opinion on that sort of range would be very, very difficult and most certainly, you know, it is possible that 10 percent would be accurate.  But there are so many other factors to be taken into account at that point.
     As I said, this is purely a hypothetical sort of situation.  This is not the case with the benchmark.
     MR. McGILL:  Another point to consider is we don't know what the standard deviation is for the cluster group, the 11 that were within the one standard deviation.  So it has got to be a lower number than the standard deviation for the total sample.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, the other element to that benchmark that you had inflated the 2003 sample by 3.22 percent.
     MR. LOUTH:  Correct.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Correct?  How did you arrive at 3.22 percent as the inflation figure?
     MR. LOUTH:  What we did on that particular item is, we -- first of all, we have a reasonably large number of customer service agreements in our office.  And we went through and analyzed the increases that were projected under those customer service agreements through to 2006.
     In fact, we went to 2007 to make sure there were no anomalous situations where prices would rise by 10 percent because of the terms of the contract.  So we analyzed somewhere close to seven customer service agreements.  

We then went to some of our other clients and said, basically, Give us your top line budgets for 2006 in terms of customer care costs.  And we called five or six clients, some of them were, you know, we already analyzed the CSA, but we wanted to make sure the CSA was still being applied.
     Having done all of that work, we then came up with a list of increases that were expected by those clients over the period of 2003 to 2006.  The average of those increases was somewhere close to 3.22 percent, and that's the number we used.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, do you know if the respondents in the sample had customer increases since 2003?


MR. LOUTH:  Some did.  Some didn't.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And the ones that did, isn't it possible that even if the customer care costs increased, that the cost per customer would have decreased?


MR. LOUTH:  There were not ‑‑ to my knowledge there were ‑‑ most of the contracts that we looked at were unit‑price base.  So if, for instance, you were sending out more bills at $2.20, then more customers, more bills, but the CPC would remain roughly the same.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Getting back to your earlier comment that EGD's ‑‑ the difference between EGD and the benchmarks at the top end of the range of reasonableness, that would depend on whether your 3.22 percent figure is correct.


MR. LOUTH:  That's indeed correct, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So if you overestimated that, then EGD would be over the range of reasonableness; in other words, it would be unreasonable.


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.  And of course if we underestimated, then the reverse effect would have happened.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, can you just turn to page 8 of appendix 1?


MR. LOUTH:  I have the page.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You say in the last bullet point at the bottom of the page:   

"The analysis of questionnaire responses does not support the contention that customer care costs are significantly higher for utilities situated in areas of the country with more extreme climatic conditions."


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If you just hold that open and turn to Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 3, paragraph 14:

"The company says the severity and variability of weather, for example, impacts bill complexity, as well as the number of billing enquiries received.  A more moderate climate leads to lower bill amounts and a lesser degree of variability in bill amounts from month to month."


I take it from your report that you don't agree with that statement?


MR. LOUTH:  We saw no evidence that that was the case in 2003.  Now, I have no idea whether 2003 was a mild winter in Ontario.  Somebody else can perhaps enlighten us on that.  But, remember, we took a time slice, which was 2003.  So it's very dangerous to make an overall comment on that basis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you could turn, then, to page 12 of appendix 1, the second last paragraph on that page, the last sentence?


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Just on that point, you say there:

"A much wider study of climatic data related to previous financial years would have to be made in order to draw a more general conclusion."


That's on the impact of climate.


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  I see the paragraph.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, just on what you just said, regarding the company's evidence, are you aware of any evidence filed by the company to support any of -- that sort of conclusion?


MR. LOUTH:  Personally I am not, no.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And the difference between EGD and the benchmark average is $4.32 per customer; is that right?


MR. LOUTH:  We're talking of 2006?


MR. DeVELLIS:  In 2006.


MR. LOUTH:  Okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You have $59.03 for EGD and $54.71 for the benchmark sample adjusted by 3.22 percent --


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- from 2003.  And if you multiply that by 1.8 million customers, which I think was in the number of customers that the company used or discussed yesterday

--


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- I get 7,770,000.  Will you take that subject to check?


MR. LOUTH:  I haven't checked the math, but it sounds reasonable.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And that is almost exactly what the disallowance was for the company in the 0133 case.


Now, at page 7 of appendix 1, you indicate there that 13 of the 14 utilities you surveyed outsourced at least some of the customer care functions.


MR. LOUTH:  I'm sorry, I can't find that reference on that page.  I think we're at the top of the next page where it says the majority of utilities, 92 percent, outsourced some or all of their customer-care processes.


MS. NOWINA:  Bottom of page 6, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I beg your pardon.  Yes, the bottom of page 6.


MR. LOUTH:  Oh, 13 -- okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, 13 of 14 utilities responding to the benchmark used outsourced ‑‑


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, I have that reference.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And on page 7, near ‑‑ the second last paragraph, you say:   






"Given the breadth of outsourcing services now being used in the customer care area, the use of these services has been relatively rapid."


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Doesn't that suggest to you that there should be a market price comparator for these services?


MR. LOUTH:  It would be interesting if that were done, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I just want to ask you about your method of computing the average cost per customer.  You have an example on page 25 of appendix 1.


MR. LOUTH:  I have the example.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, in the box -- in the table there on that page, you have some boxes that are empty, for example, meter reading for utility 2.  Sorry, billing for utility 2 is empty.


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  What would that mean, in your sample data?


MR. LOUTH:  That would mean that billing had not been outsourced by the utility concerned.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But they would still have to perform that function?


MR. LOUTH:  They would still do so, yes, but usually using internal resources.


MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  Then when you compute the ‑‑ if you look at the very last sentence there, the overall cost per customer benchmark will be $32?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's if you take the total of each utility and divide by 3?


MR. LOUTH:  No.  That's taking the mean value.  Sorry, yes, it is.  It's taking the cost and dividing by 3.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So, in effect, what you're doing, then, is treating the blank box as a zero --


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- for the purpose of computing your average?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Doesn't that give you a skewed result, then, because those utilities are providing those services?  They are paying for it.  They're just not outsourcing it.


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, but we would have left them out of the calculation, because the measurement of internal costs was not part of the benchmark terms of reference.


We were specifically benchmarking outsourced customer care costs.


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you are comparing one utility, the benchmark ‑‑ one of the benchmark utilities that has not outsourced some of their customer care costs to EGD, which has -- then wouldn't the benchmark comparator have a lower customer care cost than EGD, just because you haven't included those figures in the sample?

     MR. LOUTH:  Let me explain the process that we went through.  This is a hypothetical example, obviously.
     In a situation such as -- let's take utility 2, where they had not outsourced billing --
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.
     MR. LOUTH:  -- they would have reported their billing costs, because they were asked to do so.  Whether they were internal or external was another question.
     What we would do at that point is we would call the utility back and we would ask a series of questions around their billing costs to determine whether they should be legitimately included in the benchmark or not.
     If we considered that the billing costs were artificially low, we would have excluded them from benchmark -- from the benchmark calculation.
     If they were reasonably consistent with other people's costs, we would have left them in the benchmark calculation.
     And as it transpired, there were no -- there were no utilities in the sample that I can recall where we actually left out the cost of a particular function, unless it truly was zero, such as meter reading for Alberta utilities.
     So although this example would suggest that the results were skewed, it is only a hypothetical situation, and that hypothetical situation did not apply when it came down to analysing the final sample.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I just want to be clear on your answer, though.  You mentioned Alberta, which does not have meter reading.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Why is that?
     MR. LOUTH:  Because the meter reading in Alberta is done by what are called the wires company in Alberta, which is actually the transmission company.  The transmission company does the meter reading for, at least for the Alberta utilities with whom I'm familiar.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  So the meter reading costs wouldn't have been included in their benchmark?
     MR. LOUTH:  Not in the Alberta utilities, no.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, would that have affected your benchmark average if there is only 11 in the sample?
     MR. LOUTH:  It would have --
     MR. DeVELLIS:  One of them would be artificial lower because you haven't included meter-reading costs.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  It would have affected the benchmark averages, if you look at the cost of meter reading, unquestionably it would have affected that.
     In overall terms, yes, it would have somewhat affected the overall cost.  But you're then looking at a much larger sample.  So the impact of that omission is nowhere near at great.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm sorry.
     MR. LOUTH:  Well, if -- you know I'm struggling here, because I know exactly how many Alberta utilities were in the benchmark, but I am precluded from telling you how many, unfortunately, because of confidentiality reasons.  But there were a small number of Alberta utilities.  That small number did not have meter-reading costs.
     So the fact that they had zero costs would have placed them at the lower end of the means.  In one case, it actually excluded that particular utility from the cluster utilities.  So that -- the effect of not having meter reading was totally washed out in that case.  They were not in the cluster.
     The remaining utilities in Alberta would have been and were inside the cluster and would have been included.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  They would have been included and meter readings is a significant expense in the overall customer…

    MR. LOUTH:  In terms of the sample as a whole, and if we leave out EGD, meter reading was $7.59 a customer, in terms of benchmark numbers.  In 2003 terms, it was $7.13.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  I am just going to -- I believe there is an interrogatory asking you for the standard deviation for each, the average of each of the customer care functions.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, I believe we responded to that.
     MR. McGILL:  It's probably CCC number 158, part D.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. McGill.  Yes.  I had it marked.
     So, yes, if you could turn to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 158.
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. DeVELLIS:  There you see the standard deviation for each of the customer care functions and for meter reading, there you have data points and the mean is ten.  So that's the one you said was taken out because their costs were too low?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's right.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  And you see the standard deviation there is $15.92.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  So the mean for that, you said, was $7.59.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  So the standard deviation is 200 percent of the mean?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's what the report -- that's what the data says and that's what we reported.
     I should also point out here, if I may, that leaving out the meter reading for “N” Alberta utilities, whatever the number may be would, in fact, mean that the benchmark for the overall sample was lower than it would have been had we excluded those Alberta utilities and simply put in every utility with meter reading included.  So the net effect of leaving out those utilities is to depress the benchmark number.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, we can't examine that because you can't tell us who the Alberta utilities are.
     MR. LOUTH:  No, I'm sorry, I can't.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  You can't give us a breakdown of what their customer care functions are -- costs are per function for the Alberta utilities?
     MR. LOUTH:  We could -- and again, this would require some more work on the part of my firm.  We could, in fact, run the database without the Alberta utilities and give you that number.  It would be a higher number.
     MR. McGILL:  You can get an indication from taking a look at K19.1 -- pardon me, K19 -- yes, I think it is K19.1, which was the September 13th, 2005 Alberta decision with respect to ATCO, where they have removed meter reading from the mean generated in Mr. Louth's sample.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct, yes.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you turn to CCC interrogatory number 192.
     MR. LOUTH:  I'm sorry, I didn't catch the question.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I'm just asking you to turn to CCC interrogatory number 192.  That's Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192.
     MR. LOUTH:  I've got it here.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 28 of 74.
     There you have the prices paid for EGD beginning on page 29.
     MR. LOUTH:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  For the various services.
     MR. LOUTH:  I have that exhibit.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So on the top row of the table on page 29, you have: emergency calls, cost per calls $10.51, other service calls $10.51.  Did you do any analysis of whether those costs were reasonable versus other in the sample? 

     MR. LOUTH: No, we didn't.  No.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MR. LOUTH:  You have to remember that the benchmark was done for -- basically for Direct Energy.  We did not ask those sort of questions.  They didn't require answers.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So for none of these -- I assume the same answer for all of them.  I'm not going to go through every line, but I assume it's the same answer.  You didn't compare on a function-by-function basis whether the cost being charged to EGD is reasonable compared to others?


MR. LOUTH:  No, we did not do that comparison.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would you agree with me that that would be the best way to compare, because -- for example, emergency call, it would be easier to determine or to analyze whether the costs charged to EGD versus others is reasonable if you just look at, say, emergency call costs per call?


MR. LOUTH:  Some utilities have actually outsourced the emergency call function as a separate contract; other utilities, the cost of a call entirely differently to EGD.  There are so many variances once you get down to that microcosmic level that you would need to find a sufficiently large sample that was relatively the same as EGD before you could come up with a definitive answer.


We certainly haven't done that, nor have we been required to do so.


MR. McGILL:  The other problem you would have is that you would need to do a minute, detailed analysis of every service that is set out in every service agreement in order to do that.


You would need to define exactly what the service is, what it includes, what the service levels are, and make some kind of effort to normalize across whatever the population of agreements was that you could obtain in order to do that kind of analysis.


I don't think it is a reasonable thing to undertake.  A good example in our case is meter reading.  There's two components of the fee.  There is a fee per meter ‑‑ for each meter reading, plus there is an administrative cost, which is a fixed expense.  That administrative charge goes to things like refolding routes, dealing with the people that are out on the street, scheduling, all those kinds of things that have to be done in the background.


So you could add our numbers together and come up with a fee per meter reading that includes that, which would be higher than the 50 cents, which includes ‑‑ which is for the physical reading of the meter, or you could come up with a fee per meter read that included the administrative costs that would be significantly greater.  But if somebody just submitted to a survey and said, Well, my fee per meter reading is a dollar and somebody else's is 50 cents, unless you know what is included in that fee, the comparison is meaningless.


That's why we come back to -- the more meaningful comparison is the overall benchmark.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Louth, yesterday you were talking about the work that you did in the 0133 case.


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Comparing EGD's costs with that of B.C. Gas, now Terasen.  You mentioned that you did a more detailed analysis there.  Can you explain what you meant by that?


MR. LOUTH:  We had access to B.C. Gas's customer service agreement at that point, and clearly we were able to do a more detailed analysis of the two contracts side by side, which is indeed what we did.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MR. LOUTH:  Now, having said that, you have to appreciate that B.C. Gas', as it was then -- their contract was significantly different to EGD's insomuch as B.C. Gas had a price per customer -- a fixed price per customer, irrespective of the number of calls, irrespective of the meters that were being read or number of meters that were being read.  They had a fixed price per customer.


If 20 customers read into their database, their fee went up by 20 times that fixed price.  So the contracts were extremely different.  


 MR. DeVELLIS:  One last question, Mr. Louth.  Yesterday you said that Direct Energy had the benefit of a ruling from the AUB that the most acceptable measurement of overall market value for Direct Energy would be measurement on the basis of overall costs of customer care.


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Do you have the 0133 decision with you, paragraph 508?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  We have that document, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The first sentence of the last paragraph:

"The Board is of the view that an open tender for EGDI's business would prove to be the most appropriate method to establish fair market value for customer care service."


So in terms of your comment yesterday, the underpinnings for the Direct Energy report, in terms of the AUB's ruling, don't apply to Ontario, do they?


MR. LOUTH:  Based on this ruling here, no, that would appear not to be the case.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


Mr. Sommerville has a question for Mr. Cass.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cass, just before we break - and we're going to retire to deliberate on the questions that were addressed earlier today - the prohibition with respect to trade in Enbridge shares:  Is that an internal prohibition?  Could you put some boundaries on that somehow?


MR. CASS:  I can personally do that, Mr. Sommerville, but I can try to get an answer for you. 


My ‑‑ I am getting way out of my depth here, but my assumption would be that once the 2005 information is stale, so to speak, that there would no longer be a concern about somebody having 2005 information that others in the marketplace don't have.  So I couldn't possibly see it as something indefinite.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I take it, from the structure of what you're proposing, is that what we're talking about here is that the recipients of this material would become sort of insiders, and this would be in the species of insider trading; is that right?


MR. CASS:  I don't know.  I'm sorry, Mr. Sommerville, I don't know whether insider trading is the right terminology, or not.  It's simply the recipients would have prospective financial information that is not available to all participants in the market for trading in securities.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one question with respect to the other issue that has to do with the production question concerning CWLP.  Do I take it, from the response in the interrogatory 192 and your comments today, that EGD basically doesn't take any position with respect to the production?


MR. CASS:  Well, the ultimate position will be decided by CWLP.  If CWLP ‑‑ when CWLP comes here to argue and takes a position against ‑- assuming the position is against production of all of the information, I would have some submissions to make to the Board in connection with that.


I have been thinking about that.  What I would like to do is take the Board back to the 2003 case and what I think came out of the 2003 case.  I'm not sure that CWLP's lawyer is in a position to do that, not having been involved in that case.  But fundamental belief flows from the decision made by CWLP and its lawyer that if they come to argue against production of any of the information, I would be hoping to make a submission to the Board about what I think came out of the 2003 case.  


Just to put that into a little more context, the 2003 case did give the Board's expectations of what Enbridge Gas Distribution would do.  And Mr. McGill, in fact, testified in his examination in‑chief that he believes that Enbridge Gas Distribution fully met the Board's expectations for future cases where customer care would be considered.


So it is in that context that I would think that I would have some submission, depending on what CWLP and its lawyer decides to do.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  I think I understand that, thank you.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  We will take a longer than usual break.  I think we will give ourselves an hour.  And looking at the schedule, Mr. Dingwall, do you still think you're going to take an hour to question this panel?


MR. DINGWALL:  Only if I am very lucky.  I'm assuming that I will probably be closer to half an hour, 45 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So I think what we will do is take an hour break, return, and then take whatever time it takes to complete this panel.  So we will not resume after that session.


So we will take a break and return at 11:30.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:25 a.m. 

     --- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.
     DECISION:
     MS. NOWINA:  Before we resume with the other panel, we will deal with the other issues first.
     First, regarding the production of EGD's portion of the 2005 corporate budget.  First, the Board notes our dissatisfaction that EGD has not been forthcoming with the details of the securities concern.  We understand, Mr. Cass, that you don't have the expertise, but it is EGD's responsibility to ensure that the appropriate expertise is available to the Board, I think, given especially that the volume of '05 information that has already been filed in this case.  

That said, in the interests of time, the Board orders EGD to submit the budget with the conditions as proposed per EGD's proposal with the following addition:  That the limitation on ownership of EI shares be limited until the 2005 actuals are produced by the company – sorry, Ms. Chaplin clarifies that that's a limitation on trading, not on ownership.  Is that correct, Mr. Cass, that was the limitation was on trading?
     MR. CASS:  That would be my understanding, yes, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Regarding the other matter, we have a couple of clarifications first.
     We assume that the intervenors are requesting production of ECSI and CWLP financial statements for 2004, preferably the audited statements and pro forma statements for 2005 and 2006.  Can the intervenors confirm that for me?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's correct, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Okay, thank you.  

Then a clarification, perhaps, from EGD.  We note that there has been discussion about counsel for CWLP being present.  We're talking about ECSI documents as well and there has been no discussion about counsel for ECSI being present.
     Mr. Cass, do you have any comments on that?
     MR. CASS:  Not at the moment, Madam Chair.  I can take some instructions on that.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.
     MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I don't know the answer.
     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will proceed without knowing that and hopefully they will become informed as soon as possible.
     The Board has decided that we will sit on this matter on Monday, September 19th at 9:00 a.m.  This represents notice to all parties and it is incumbent on all parties to have representation present, if they have a submission on the issue.
     The Board orders counsel for CWLP and ECSI to submit a synopsis of their position to all intervenors this weekend.  The Board also requests that ECSI and CWLP be prepared to produce the documents in question on Monday, if so ordered.  

I am willing to take submissions on those two points, especially the latter one, if you have any comments.  All right.  Hearing none, we will go to Mr. Dingwall.
     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, shall we file the corporate budget, then, as the next exhibit?
     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, please.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good morning, panel.  My name is Brian Dingwall, my questions are on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters --
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, before we begin, maybe we can get the confidential exhibit, first.
     Is there a question?
     MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Madam Chair, the question I just asked Mr. Cass and I really should have asked you is:  Is an undertaking of non-disclosure and non-trading required in addition to your order?
     MS. NOWINA:  Oh, I would ask EGD to respond to that.
     MR. CASS:  I didn't think that that was necessary, no, Madam Chair.  I had assumed it would fall under the confidentiality undertakings that have already been signed and that the non-trading was just a confirmation by those who have signed those undertakings and received the document, that they -- as I indicated at the outset, that the information is provided on that basis.
     MS. NOWINA:  And that is on the record?
     MR. CASS:  Yes.
     MS. NOWINA:  Is that fine, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  That's fine.  Thank you.
     MR. CASS:  I had misunderstood Mr. Warren's question to me, Madam Chair.  I thought the question was simply, should we give this document a number, given that it is produced in response to a Board order, and I thought that perhaps it should have a number to identify it.
     MS. NOWINA:  Let's give it one of the X numbers.
     MR. BATTISTA:  We will treat it as a confidential exhibit.  So it will be noted as Exhibit X20.1 and be characterized as EGDI 2005 business unit budget.
     EXHIBIT NO. X20.1:  EGDI 2005 business unit budget
     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I just had a question of a profoundly prosaic kind, and that is, I was only here this morning on this issue of productions.  I don't have any questions for Mr. Louth.  I wonder if I might be excused.
     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. Warren.
     MR. WARREN:  Thank you.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, that that is out of the way and we can move on from the X files to something else, I am going to be making reference in my cross-examination to a document by Mr. Bourke of the company has been kind enough to produce and I am going to ask that that document be distributed.
     The document is entitled “Terasen Gas Inc. Assessment of the Qualifications and Availability of Outsource Customer Care Service Providers and Potential Conversion of Terasen Gas Vancouver Island,” dated May 9th, 2005.
     MR. BATTISTA:  We will give this Exhibit number K20.1.
     It will be characterized as assessment, qualifications prepared by Douglas Louth regarding customer -- outsource customer care service providers.
EXHIBIT NO. K20.1:  ASSESSMENT, QUALIFICATIONS

PREPARED BY DOUGLAS LOUTH REGARDING OUTSOURCE CUSTOMER

CARE SERVICE PROVIDERS

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 16; Resumed

DOUG LOUTH; Previously Sworn


TANYIA FERGUSON; Previously Sworn

STEPHEN McGILL; Previously Sworn
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, before we get to this document, I just wanted to get the production of that and the distribution of that out of the way so that we've got an orderly flow.
     Mr. Louth, Mr. DeVellis was asking you a number of questions with regard to your 2004 survey which was done on behalf of Direct Energy.
     Were there any Enbridge Gas Distribution affiliates in that study?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, there were.  Affiliates?  No.  There were no affiliates.  EGD itself participated 

MR. DINGWALL:   But not Gazifere or Enbridge Gas New Brunswick?
     MR. LOUTH:  No.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  In looking at number of filings in Canadian utility regulation over the last few years, I have noticed that there are many transactions where customer care is not a distinct transaction.  For example, B.C. Hydro's outsourcing arrangement extends beyond customer care.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Do any companies that have been involved in these multiple transactions appear in your study?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, they do.  But the cost and process impact of other arrangements such as the outsourcing of the property management have been excluded from the study.  So what we are left with in the study is purely what we have called the core services of customer care.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I guess we would have to know the companies to get into specifics on that.  Obviously, Direct Energy regulated services in Alberta was, in some fashion, involved in your study.
     MR. LOUTH:  Absolutely.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And from what I understand --
     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Dingwall, I'm sorry to interrupt.  I understand the court reporter is having a little bit of difficulty in hearing.
     MR. LOUTH:  I have a dual problem:  One of speaking into the microphone and, two, seeing the person who is asking the questions.
     MR. MILLAR:  I ask for your best effort.
     MR. LOUTH:  Is that better?
     MR. DINGWALL:  Maybe we can ask Mr. Hoey to duck.  I am sure there would be no other need for him to do so.

From what I understand, and please correct me if I am wrong, Direct Energy regulated services is the default service provider for electricity in the Calgary area.


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, and other parts of Alberta.


MR. DINGWALL:  And some other parts of Alberta?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And they acquired this right through the purchase of a customer base from ATCO?


MR. LOUTH:  To my knowledge, that's correct, yes.  They also provide natural gas services in the same area.


MR. DINGWALL:  As part of that transaction, they paid a substantial amount of money to ATCO?


MR. LOUTH:  I presume so.


MR. DINGWALL:  In addition to that, ATCO owns I-Tek, do they not?


MR. LOUTH:  Whether it is 100 percent ownership, I'm not sure, but, to my knowledge, they do own a controlling interest in ATCO I-Tek, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  So part of the revenue that ATCO's ultimate shareholder receives from the direct transaction comes from the billing arrangement?


MR. LOUTH:  If, indeed, there was any income.  But if there was, yes, you're correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, in taking you back to your survey in general, are there any other -‑ are there any companies in the survey -- can you identify perhaps the number of companies that receive customer care services bundled with other transactions?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, there are other companies that have such arrangements, but with an arm's length outsource provider.


For instance, I mean, I can ‑‑ we've already established - and we maybe shouldn't have done, but we have - that B.C. Hydro was one of the respondents of the survey.


B.C. Hydro receives a large number of process support services which are not strictly customer care.  For instance, building maintenance is handled by Accenture.


There are one or two organizations that have similar arrangements with their outsource provider, such that the provision of customer care services is only part of the total contract with that provider.  Does that answer the question?


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes, it does.  I wonder what would happen to the numbers in your survey if we were to eliminate all the companies that received combined services.


MR. LOUTH:  I have no idea, but it would be interesting.  You have also to realize that we did not ask that question, in terms of:  Do you receive other services from your outsource provider?  So I could eliminate the ones that I knew about.  I couldn't guarantee that the elimination would be 100 percent accurate.  


MR. DINGWALL:  I believe you also gave evidence before the British Columbia Utilities Commission with respect to the B.C. Hydro outsourcing arrangement?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, it was not ‑‑ I presented written evidence, yes, and a report.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, in the version of the report that I have seen, the figures that are associated with the bundles of customer care costs were redacted.  Do you know if there was ever an unredacted version of those numbers filed?


MR. LOUTH:  I really don't know.  My report certainly would contain those numbers, but I ‑‑ I don't know whether that was filed.


MR. DINGWALL:  Does that number remain a confidential number from the perspective of B.C. Hydro?


MR. LOUTH:  Well, certainly as far as myself as a consultant is concerned, yes, it does remain a confidential number, until and unless it gets into the public domain.


MR. DINGWALL:  Here we go down the road of confidentiality again.  Last year we had a proceeding before this Board looking at the regulatory assets of a number of electricity utilities, many of which had to go through the expensive and complicated exercise of implementing new customer care modules.


Were there any Ontario electricity utilities in your survey?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  Please don't ask me how many, but the answer to that question is yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And did your survey cover off the ‑‑ well, let me try another approach at that.  A number of utilities in Ontario went through some significant modifications.  For example, I know that Toronto Hydro merged with a number of utilities.  Hydro One purchased a significant number of other utilities, and there were additional mergers and acquisitions through that time.


I seem to recall from those cases that many of the costs associated with customer care had to do with a number of one‑time charges related to the combining of customer bases.  Did your survey identify where that was taking place?


 MR. LOUTH:  To the extent that we could, yes.  The way that the survey was conducted was that where we saw a truly anomalous answer ‑ and by that, I mean a significant variance from the mean ‑ we called that utility to find out whether abnormal charges were being put in there.


In a number of cases we were told, not necessarily by Ontario utilities, but in a number of cases we were told: Oh, yes, we have just installed a new CIS and the cost for that was $60 million.  At that point we said: Would you please remove those costs, if they're one-time, from the survey?


So the survey results then reflected the cost to that utility, minus their one‑time costs for significant replacement of technology.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, you have given me the answer that there were some electricity LDCs from Ontario in your survey.  Do you know based on what years' numbers they would have been reporting their costs to you?


MR. LOUTH:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.  I will make an effort.


You have given us the indication that there were some Ontario electricity local distribution companies in your survey which you produced in 2004.


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, when they gave you numbers on their customer care costs, do you know the year or the time period from which those numbers emanated?


MR. LOUTH:  We asked all respondents to provide 2003 fiscal year final numbers, and we also put in a request that those numbers should be exactly the same numbers that were submitted to regulatory authorities, if indeed they had to do so in 2003.


So the cut‑off point was the end of financial year 2003 for all of the utilities in the survey.


MR. DINGWALL:  So do you know whether or not they included the regulatory asset amount that they had been accumulating in deferral accounts?


MR. LOUTH:  No, I don't know.


MR. DINGWALL:  It's time to move on.  I'm going to ask you some questions which are primarily to do with your report that you did for Terasen May 9th of this year, which has now been given an exhibit number in this proceeding.


I take it, sir, that you are familiar with this?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And that it is your work?


MR. LOUTH:  It is the work of my firm.  I worked with another consultant called Doug Jones on this, and clearly he did a proportion of the work in preparing the document and doing the research involved.  But I was the -- if you like, the partner in charge of the assignment and did some of the detailed work.  So, yes, I am familiar.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, it seems to me that one of the purposes for this report was to determine whether or not there were qualified service providers to whom customer care could be outsourced; is that correct?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  And that the conclusion of your report was, yes, there are?


MR. LOUTH:  There are.


MR. DINGWALL:  At page 4 of your report, there is a chart which is labelled "Figure 2".  It discusses some discrete business functions.


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm, that's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that these are pretty much industry standard breakouts of the components of customer care?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  They're what we would normally refer to as the core customer care services.


MR. DINGWALL:  So with respect to meter reading, that's something which is quite a distinct service?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  And in many cases, certainly in Ontario, it's one to which outsourcing to a number of very specified companies?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.  The same is true obviously ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  That's the norm?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, it is.


MR. DINGWALL:  And that's the same as B.C.?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, it is.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, with respect to billing and payment processing, they could really be broken down into two functions, because billing is one area of technical expertise and payment processing is another area of technical expertise.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And again, the market for those services is quite specialized and involves a number of very sophisticated market participants?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, at page 10 of your report, under paragraph 6.6, there are a number of cost estimates which come to light.
     Now, as I understand it, please correct me if I'm wrong, you went to a number of the service providers and asked them for a ballpark estimate of what their billing costs would be.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, we did.  And what we actually asked them to do was quote the prices that they were charging to other comparable suppliers for those services.  And we defined “comparable” as being roughly comparable to the combined database of Terasen and TGVI, which is Vancouver Island, which amounted to about 900,000 customers.
     MR. DINGWALL:  When you came up with the list of companies to contact -- I take it you didn't really have to go too far because you knew there are a number of significant, sophisticated billing providers out there.
     MR. LOUTH:  Of course, yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  This list is by no means exhaustive.
     MR. LOUTH:  We did do a certain amount of new research, because the number -- these suppliers change and merge fairly frequently and also new suppliers enter the marketplace.  For instance, as you will see elsewhere in the report, three of the potential suppliers had actually merged and we were unaware of that.  So that became one potential supplier.
     So we did research that level.  Is this a completely exhaustive list?  Not necessarily.  But we were quite confident we had the big players in the list.
     MR. DINGWALL:  At page 23 of your report, there is a listing of appendices.  And the last one under -- which is appendix H, makes reference to potential supplier existing cost information.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's right.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I take it that that became the source for the information which appears on page 10 with respect to costing.
     MR. LOUTH:  Let me just check page 10, but I am sure you are right.  Yes, page 10 is a summary of that appendix, yes.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So did these suppliers provide you with their actual costs for some examples of their customers?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, to the extent that we could trust them.  They certainly, in very few cases did they actually identify their supplier.  The more typical response was:  We have six customers.  The lowest is this.  The highest is this.  The median is this.  And that was the sort of information we got.
     You have to remember that Terasen was not trying to select the supplier, any more than Enbridge was through the process that it carried out.
     This was purely and simply to make sure that the cost of the services in the marketplace were roughly within the range of those services that CWLP was providing to Terasen.  So it was a very rough estimate of cost.
     MR. DINGWALL:  But you did make some effort to qualify the suppliers in finding out that these companies were dealing with comparable markets?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, we did.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So for example, I think IBM, they do the billing for the NiSource group of companies, do they not?
     MR. LOUTH:  I presume so.  If you say so I will accept your word.  I don't know for sure.
     MR. DINGWALL:  And that includes Columbia Gas of Ohio, which is a market with daily balancing at the residential level.  So quite a sophisticated billing system.
     MR. LOUTH:  I am not aware of that.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  
     MR. McGILL:  There is no indication in the report as to what clients the potential suppliers were referencing when they provided these figures.  So it would be pure speculation as to what client IBM may have been referring to.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Louth, what information was provided to you that forms this appendix H?
     MR. LOUTH:  Again, what we asked for was a typical pricing for a comparable size of client.  That was what we asked for.
     We also were very clear in so much as were this to be followed up with a RFP process, these numbers would be quoted back to the supplier and basically they were told, If your final numbers vary from these amounts by a huge percentage, then you stand a chance of being disqualified from any RFP process.
     So we tried to tie the two together but it was a very, very loose connection.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So when these companies provided you with numbers, did they indicate which utilities they were for?
     MR. LOUTH:  Some did.  Some didn't.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Did they provide them to you on a confidential basis?
     MR. LOUTH:  They did, indeed.
     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm just wondering whether -- can you give me an indication of which ranges and which suppliers provided you with information specific to utilities?
     MR. LOUTH:  Let me have a look at the list of suppliers here.
     Now, this is obviously off the top of my head.  I am  -- I'm looking for the page with the list of suppliers on.  There is not such a page.  Again, from memory, First Data did provide customer references.  IBM provided customer references and ATCO I-Tek provided customer references.
     MR. DINGWALL:  It's not hard for them to do it, would it be?
     MR. LOUTH:  No.  It was a small list.  But as far as the other three are concerned, I don't recall whether they actually provided customer references.
     The other three would be Alliance, Cap Gemini, and Convergys.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So if anything, it sounds like the Alliance one has the most variance?
     MR. LOUTH:  I'm sorry?  I was speaking to my colleague, Mr. McGill here.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So it sounds like the Alliance quote was the one that had the largest variation?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  But it was also the one that contained no references to actual amounts being charged to customers?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. DINGWALL:  So if you're doing a statistical analysis, that is probably the throwaway out of those four?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, it is.  Except that Alliance was, of course, providing services to TGVI, so we knew some of the -- we knew some of the actual numbers around the Alliance capability.
     MR. DINGWALL:  What happened as a result of this survey?
     MR. LOUTH:  Basically, Terasen wanted to do two things.  They were required to demonstrate to BCUC that there were potentially other suppliers in the marketplace, or not, as the case may be.  And they also were looking for approval of a CPCN which would have covered the costs of transferring their Vancouver Island operations on to the piece database.
     And to my understanding, the latter was approved, the CPCN was approved.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, as part of that, they needed to demonstrate a cost to the BCUC, did they not?
     MR. LOUTH:  They did.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Do you recall what cost they ended up negotiating with CWLP for the additional customers?
     MR. LOUTH:  No, I don't recall.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Maybe I could ask you to take an undertaking.  I believe it is contained in the letter from Mr. Thompson to the BCUC, which contains your report with it.
     MR. LOUTH:  What is the undertaking?
     MR. DINGWALL:  The undertaking is to produce the number or the cost per customer which Terasen eventually negotiated with CWLP for the additional customers in the TGVI area.

MR. LOUTH:  Okay.  That can only be retrieved from the BCUC database, but I will try to do that.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well just for clarification, I will send it to you.


MR. LOUTH:  Okay, that's fine.  Please do.


MR. DINGWALL:  I will actually provide it to Mr. Hoey.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J20.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J20.4:  TO PRODUCE THE NUMBER OR THE COST PER CUSTOMER WHICH TERASEN EVENTUALLY NEGOTIATED WITH CWLP FOR THE ADDITIONAL CUSTOMERS IN THE TGVI AREA






MR. DINGWALL:  Now, from what I understand, CWLP is, of course, Terasen's provider, as it is Enbridge Gas Distribution's provider?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Yet Terasen does not use the same CIS that Enbridge Gas Distribution uses?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  It uses a different application for the CIS.  Do you know if they use combined applications for the call centre?


MR. LOUTH:  I presume they do.  I mean, they use ‑‑ they're effectively using the same call centre.  I would find it hard to believe they're using significantly different applications.


MR. DINGWALL:  That might be a question to get back to Mr. McGill on later on in the process.  


MR. McGILL:  The answer is they may; they may not.  And to some extent they may have a combination of individual stand‑alone call centre support systems or some integrated, and I think that just goes to the history of the development of the organization, where it was the amalgamation of call centres from a couple of different entities.


So I'd hesitate to speculate that it's one integrated system across all the centres without going back and checking.


MR. LOUTH:  That they use two different CISes may indeed dictate that some of the technology is different at a very low level, but, again, I can't confirm that.


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes, I think to get into any kind of detail with this, we would be best waiting for another panel.  It's not fair to ask you that.


I guess one observation I've got that comes from this particular report is that it seems that most of the respondents make reference to actual prices, from the sound of things, are well below the benchmark amount that you put forward in 2004 for Direct Energy.


MR. LOUTH:  Some are, yes.  Some are not.  I would also make the point that you have to appreciate that all capital costs are not included in these numbers that were provided for Terasen, and I repeat "not included".


So the total cost of conversion for Terasen is not reflected in these numbers.  This is purely and simply examples of costs that apply to other customers for these particular suppliers.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, in defining your cost parameters for this report for Terasen, were you not trying to identify the same baskets of services that you were using in your report for Direct Energy?


MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Millar, do you have any questions for this panel?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, re-direct.


MR. CASS:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I wonder if I could just seek clarification on re-direct, actually.


I have a few questions for Mr. Louth, who is the witness from this panel who needs to depart.  Cross-examiners did ask questions of Mr. McGill, as well.  Would it be the Board's desire that I would save re‑examination on subjects that Mr. McGill addressed until the end of the entire panel and just do the re‑examination of Mr. Louth now, or do re‑examination on everything that has occurred so far?


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment.  Mr. Shepherd, Mr. DeVellis, Mr. Dingwall, do you have any positions on that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.


MS. NOWINA:  No?  Why don't we keep it to the examination of Mr. Louth?


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I think I have four or five questions.  Thanks.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Mr. Louth, I'm going back to the beginning of Mr. Thompson's cross‑examination.  For those who have the transcript, it is yesterday's transcript, volume 19, pages 20 to 21.  You probably don't need it, but if you want to have it in front of you, that's the reference.


You will recall that Mr. Thompson asked you some questions about what was considered by the AEUB in the Direct Energy case as opposed to what was filed in this case.  Those questions had to do whether meter reading was excluded or included in the particular report.  Do you recall that?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, I do.


MR. CASS:  I wonder if you could just comment on what difference it makes, in terms of what was looked at in that case and what is before the Board in this case, and the fact that meter reading may have been in or out.


MR. LOUTH:  The removal of meter reading will not change any of the benchmark numbers for the meter reading function, because in Direct Energy's case it was zero, and obviously a zero return is ‑‑ was excluded from the calculation of a mean.


In terms of the overall cost of service, it would have the effect of depressing the overall mean at a cost per customer level for customer care as a whole, because, again, it was a zero return.


MR. CASS:  Can you comment on whether it in any way affects the usefulness of the ‑‑ your report for this proceeding?


MR. LOUTH:  No.  I think that we were looking at what it cost utilities to provide a full range of customer care services to their customers.  Direct Energy is lucky insomuch as it does not pay for meter reading.


However, having said that, clearly the overall cost of customer care provided by utilities such as Direct Energy is nonetheless accurate, because it just happens that they are lucky enough to have no meter reading charges.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  Then another subject that Mr. Thompson covered - this is at pages 22 to 23 of yesterday's transcript - had to do with collaboration in benchmarking work.  Do you remember that?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes, I do.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Thompson, I think, made clear he was talking about collaboration in the sense of collaborating with intervenors.  Do you remember that?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  I just wondered if you could comment on what bearing collaboration of ‑‑ with intervenors might have on the type of work that you did for this case.


MR. LOUTH:  Well, as far as the EUB was concerned, I don't believe that a collaboration with intervenors was what they intended in their ruling.  They were talking, I believe, about collaboration among the Alberta utilities, not with intervenors.


As far as the effect on what we did is concerned, it had no effect whatsoever.  We did not talk to intervenors before we provided any numbers.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Then at, I think it was page 73 of yesterday's transcript, Mr. Thompson had asked you about Enbridge's fiscal 2003 decision.  If you have the transcript, you might want to just turn this one up, rather than me taking you back to the fiscal 2003 decision.


If you could turn up the transcript at page 73?


MR. LOUTH:  I have page 73.


MR. CASS:  Right at the top of the page, Mr. Thompson was asking you about something said by the Board in a 2003 decision about the wide range of results from benchmarking, and asked a question about whether that was one of the problems.  Do you see that?


MR. LOUTH:  I do.


MR. CASS:  You said it is potentially one of the problems.  I wondered if you could just explain why you used the word "potentially"?


MR. LOUTH:  Because in terms of the range of costs, it is potentially a problem, unless one very carefully defines the services to which those costs apply.


We made every effort to define those services very carefully in what we did.  If that is not done, then potentially that is a major problem with benchmarking.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Do you consider that it was a problem with the end result of your work?


MR. LOUTH:  I sincerely hope not.  We made every effort to define the services that were being costed.


MR. CASS:  Then just prior to that for a number of pages in yesterday's transcript - I think it covers at least pages 68 to 72 - Mr. Thompson was talking about an analysis that was based ‑‑ I think he actually had a name for it, utility return analysis, or something ‑‑ utility return analysis, yes.


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. CASS:  I think he referred to the 2003 decision again where there is a reference to an 8.32 percent utility return on capital.


Can you comment on the extent to which customer care service providers in the market would be looking to earn those types of returns?


MR. LOUTH:  I think it's obvious that a provider is looking for some sort of return.  Whether 8.3 or any other number is the number they're looking for, I really can't comment.

     MR. CASS:  Can you comment on the relationship between trying to determine a fair market value and using a utility return analysis such as Mr. Thompson was referring to?
     MR. LOUTH:  I would think -- if it could be done, I would think it would be a very interesting project, one to take.  I doubt that it could be done because that sort of information surely is very confidential to the provider.
     MR. CASS:  Then just one question arising from Mr. DeVellis' cross-examination this morning.
     You will recall he had asked you some questions relating to the fact that your 2003 data did not show significant differences related to climate.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. CASS:  And you had commented on, you didn't know whether that was a function of the 2003 weather, or not.  Leaving aside the 2003 data, do you have any comments on whether there is any relationship between climate and customer care costs?
     MR. LOUTH:  We, as part of other work we have done, which has nothing to do with Enbridge and was for another utility, we did compare call centre activity, particularly customer calls, to climatic conditions.  And there is no question whatsoever that call centre activity does peak when climatic conditions are severe.  Or when there are interruptions to service.  Now the extent of that peaking, I have a sample of one, so clearly it's a very, very small sample indeed.  But I think if you also look at US data, and there is data on this particular issue available from the United States, that tends to support the fact that call centre activity increases during climatic or service interruption times.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you.
     MR. LOUTH:  An even bigger reason, of course, is when billing changes, and that definitely peaks.  But that has nothing to do with climate, so ...
     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Louth.  

Those are my re-examination questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.
     QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:
     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Chaplin has a question.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Louth I have a couple of questions of clarification to make sure I understand the kind of bottom line on this.
     Mr. Cass was asking you about the removal of -- or the impact of the meter reading costs.  As I understand it, you explained that in terms of actually looking at the meter reading costs in isolation, it wouldn't impact the results because that example just would not be part of the sample.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  And you did, as I understand it, you did acknowledge that that it would depress the result for the overall costs per customer, because it would still be in the sample.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  As I understand it, you're saying that that is still accurate because it just happens that they don't incur those costs; am I correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's absolutely correct, yes.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  But nevertheless, those costs are borne somewhere, are they not, and ultimately feed their way into -- I mean, there is a cost associated with meter reading.  Direct Energy may not be bearing it, but there is a cost.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes there is a cost and in Alberta it is assumed by the transmission company that does the meter reading.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  So would not -- if we were to compare the data to Enbridge, would it be more accurate to exclude that as well from the overall cost per customer sample?
     MR. LOUTH:  It would be both possible and I imagine reasonable to exclude those costs, yes.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  But your study does not do that?
     MR. LOUTH:  No, we don't do that.  As part of the work we did for Direct Energy, we did exclude Direct Energy from analysis of the database.  So if you look at those numbers for Direct Energy, you will see that the numbers that -- to which we compared Direct Energy, were exclusive of meter reading.  But what that meant at that point is we excluded everybody else’s meter reading cost as well.  So even that isn't a true comparison.
     It would be possible just simply to exclude the Alberta utilities from the database analysis and come up with a number minus -- including meter reading for the likes of EGD, but not including the Alberta utilities.  But we haven't done that analysis.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Would that be a complicated or      time-consuming activity?
     MR. LOUTH:  It would take time.  I mean we're talking of hours not days obviously.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  And would you be left with -- I mean, would the result be of any value to the Board given what the resulting size of the sample would be, or what would your opinion be on that?
     MR. LOUTH:  I would think it would be a different result.  Whether it would be of usefulness to the Board -- meter reading is not the big-ticket item in terms of customer care.  So in terms of the effect that that would have on the overall costs, I would suggest that it would be small.  But a difference would exist, there is no question.  And whether that is of use to the OEB, I think is a decision that I can't make obviously.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  Well, then, yes, I would ask that that be provided.  Thank you.
     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J20.5.
     UNDERTAKING NO. J20.5:  TO PROVIDE A NUMBER WITH

REGARDS TO THE DATABASE ANALYSIS INCLUDING METER

READING FOR THE LIKES OF EGD excludING Alberta utilities 
MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Mr. Cass, you have no further need to re-examine.
     MR. CASS:  No, Madam Chair, thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Just to confirm, we will be sitting on Monday solely to hear the question of the production of the documents.  So hopefully that will take an hour or two Monday morning, beginning at 9:00 a.m.
     Mr. Millar will attempt to get in touch with counsel for CWLP and ECSI.  

Mr. Cass, if you can assist with that as well, we would appreciate it.
     Are there any other matters?  With that, we will adjourn until 9 o'clock on Monday morning.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much, Mr. Louth.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Louth.
     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:20 p.m.   
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